IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FLORIDA CABLE TELEVISION ASSOCIATION, INC.,

Appellant,

v.

J. TERRY DEASON, Chairman, THOMAS M. BEARD, SUSAN F. CLARK, LUIS J. LAUREDO, and JULIA L. JOHNSON, Commissioners, as and constituting the FLORIDA PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION, an agency of the State of Florida,

Appellees.

Case No. 82,281

FPSC Docket No. 910757-TP

ON APPEAL FROM THE FLORIDA PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT FLORIDA CABLE TELEVISION ASSOCIATION, INC.

Florida Cable Television Association, Inc. Post Office Box 10383 Tallahassee, Florida 32302 (904) 681-1990

Laura L. Wilson Fla. Bar No. 854670

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The following abbreviations are used in this Appellant, Florida Cable Television Association, Inc., is referred to as "FCTA." Appellee, Florida Public Service Commission, is referred to as the "Commission" or "Appellee." United Telephone Company of Florida is referred to as "United." GTE Florida "GTEFL." Incorporated is referred to as BellSouth Telecommunications, Inc. d/b/a Southern Bell Telephone and Telegraph Company is referred to as "Southern Bell." Citations to the Record on Appeal are designated (R.). Citations to the transcript of the March 10-11, 1993 hearing are designated (Tr.).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

The subject of this appeal is a very narrow legal issue arising out of Florida Public Service Commission Docket No. 910757-TP and the Commission's interpretation of the language used in Chapter 364, Florida Statutes (1991)¹. Throughout Chapter 364, the terms "competitive," "subject to effective competition," and "effectively competitive" are used to describe telecommunications services provided by local exchange telecommunications companies (hereinafter referred to as "LECs"). The specific issue before this Court is whether the Legislature intended the terms "competitive," "subject to effective competition," and "effectively competitive" to have separate and distinct meanings.

This is not an academic exercise in statutory interpretation but rather a question with significant impact on the future viability of competition in the telecommunications industry in Florida. Specifically, if the Court agrees with the FCTA that these terms each have a separate meaning under Chapter 364, Florida Statutes, then the Court must conclude that the cross-subsidization protections of Section 364.3381, Florida Statutes, apply to all "competitive" services as written in the statute - not to "effectively competitive" services as the statute is interpreted by the Commission.

The 1990 revisions to Chapter 364, Florida Statutes, giving rise to the proceeding below include a clear statement of the

¹All statutes cited herein reference Florida Statutes (1991). The 1990 revisions to Chapter 364, Florida Statutes, discussed in this Brief also are found in Florida Statutes (1991).

legislative intent. (R. 98, 354, 403). Among other things, the Commission must exercise its exclusive jurisdiction to:

Ensure that all providers of telecommunications services are treated fairly, by preventing anticompetitive behavior and eliminating unnecessary regulatory restraint. [Emphasis supplied.]

Section 364.01(3)(d), Fla. Stat. The Commission must also recognize the continuing emergence of a competitive telecommunications environment and provide for the flexible treatment of competitive services:

if doing so does not reduce the availability of adequate local exchange service to all citizens of the state at reasonable and affordable prices, if competitive telecommunications services are not subsidized by monopoly services, and if all monopoly services are available to all competitors on a non-discriminatory basis. [Emphasis supplied.]

Section 364.01(3)(e), Fla. Stat.

The Commission opened Docket No. 910757-TP to examine what regulatory safeguards are required under Chapter 364 to prevent cross-subsidization of competitive services by the LECs. (R. 164). Section 364.3381, Florida Statutes, among other provisions of law, prohibits cross-subsidization of LEC competitive services with LEC monopoly revenues. (Tr. 16). This Section was promulgated in concert with the foregoing statements of legislative intent. (R. 403). Accordingly, Section 364.3381 establishes a mechanism to effectuate the legislative intent that LEC competitive services be provided in a fair and open marketplace and that LEC providers of monopoly services not be permitted to structure the rates, terms or conditions for such monopoly services in a manner that would

disadvantage those who seek to compete with the LEC in the provision of competitive services. (R. 205, 355-356).

Members of the FCTA are both customers of LEC telecommunications services and competitors of the LECs in the provision of certain telecommunications and video services. (R. 9, 641).

By Order No. 24842, issued July 25, 1991, the Commission granted the FCTA intervention in Docket No. 910757-TP. (R. 16). Intervention was also granted to AT&T of the Southern States, BellSouth Telecommunications, Inc. d/b/a Southern Bell Telephone and Telegraph Company, Central Telephone and Telegraph Company of Florida, the Florida Ad Hoc Telecommunications User's Committee, the Florida Pay Telephone Association, Inc., the Florida Interexchange Carriers Association, GTE Florida Incorporated, MCI Telecommunications Corporation, United Telephone Company of Florida, US Sprint Telecommunications Company Limited Partnership, ALLTEL Florida Incorporated, and the Office of Public Counsel. (R. 163, 25, 34, 145, 15, 39, 22, 154, 40, 38, 149, 17).

On September 20, 1992, the intervening parties submitted briefs addressing the legal requirements of Chapter 364 with regard to the prevention of cross-subsidization. (see, R. 41-144). Based upon the entrenched positions of the parties and discussions at the February 4, 1992 Agenda Conference, the Commission decided to set the matter for hearing. (R. 155-157).

A prehearing conference was held on February 26, 1993. In seeking to apply the statutory prohibition against cross-

subsidization, it became necessary to first define the term "cross-subsidization" and then determine which LEC services are subject to the prohibitions against cross-subsidy. (R. 640, 654-655). Accordingly, the following issues were among those identified for disposition in the proceeding below:

Issue 1: What is the appropriate definition of cross-subsidization, as contained in Section 364.3381, Florida Statutes?;

Issue No. 5: Is there a distinction between the terms "effectively competitive," "subject to effective competition," and "competitive" as used in Chapter 364?; and

Issue No. 6: Does the application of the provisions of Section 364.3381 first require a determination that a service is effectively competitive, pursuant to the provisions of 364.338? If not, what criteria should be used to identify those services subject to the provisions of 364.3381?

(R. 164).

The hearing was held on March 10-11, 1993. The parties submitted posthearing briefs on or before April 23, 1993. (See, R. 401-603). The Commission's Final Order No. PSC-93-1015-FOF-TP was issued on July 12, 1993 (hereinafter referred to as the "Final Order"). (R. 607-635). Due to a clerical error, the Final Order was officially reissued on July 28, 1993 by virtue of Administrative Order No. PSC-93-1105-FOF-TP which reissued and affirmed the Final Order in every respect. (R. 636-665). A certified copy of the Administrative and Final Orders are attached hereto as Appendix A.

The relevant portions of the Commission's decision with respect to the above issues are set out in the Final Order as follows:

- (1) In response to Issue 1, the Commission determined that "cross-subsidization exists when competitive services are priced below their incremental costs, and the resulting revenue shortfall is recovered through the rates for monopoly services." (R. 643);
- (2) In response to Issue 5, the Commission determined that the terms ("competitive," "subject to effective competition," and "effectively competitive") "have identical meanings when used in Sections 364.338 and 364.3381." (R. 654). It was also found that the statute "provides for only two types of services: monopoly and effectively competitive services. No provision is made for a service that is potentially competitive." (R. 653). Hence, the Commission concluded that "competitive" services and services "subject to effective competition" do not exist under Chapter 364, Florida Statutes; and
- (3) In response to Issue 6, the Commission determined that "the provisions of Section 364.3381 apply only after a determination is made, pursuant to Section 364.338, that a service is effectively competitive." (R. 655). Additionally, it was found that "the statute only prohibits cross-subsidization of LEC effectively competitive services by monopoly services, but is silent as to whether or not cross-subsidization is appropriate or acceptable in any other cases." (R. 663).

No parties sought reconsideration of the Final Order.

The FCTA does not challenge the Commission's definition of the term "cross-subsidization" found in subparagraph (1) above. Rather, this appeal focuses upon whether the Commission correctly concluded (1) that the terms "competitive," "subject to effective competition," and "effectively competitive" do not have separate meanings under the Statute but are all to be construed as "effectively competitive"; and (2) that Section 364.3381, Florida Statutes, only prevents the cross-subsidization of "effectively competitive" services.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

In 1990, the Legislature revised Chapter 364, Florida Statutes. These revisions were intended to augment the growth of competition in the telecommunications industry in Florida. A critical component of that new legislation was the express mandate imposed on the Commission to ensure that the LECs' monopoly revenues are not used to support or cross-subsidize the LECs' competitive services. The Commission's decision ignores and is contrary to the Legislature's intent as it renders the cross-subsidization protection enacted by the Legislature for the purpose of fostering competition meaningless.

In the Final Order, the Commission erroneously interpreted the provisions of Chapter 364, Florida Statutes, which prohibit the cross-subsidization of LEC "competitive" services with monopoly revenues. Specifically, the Commission determined that the statutory terms "competitive," "subject to effective competition," and "effectively competitive" are used synonymously in the statute and that all three terms mean "effectively competitive." The Commission further concluded that only those LEC services meeting the statutory criteria for "effectively competitive" services should receive guaranteed protections against cross-subsidization. The Commission's conclusions have no basis in law and must be reversed.

There can be no doubt that the Legislature deliberately chose the words "competitive," "subject to effective competition," and "effectively competitive," to ensure separate and distinct meanings

for these terms. These terms relate to the varying degrees of competition which exists for LEC telecommunications services. The plain and ordinary meaning of each term, the overwhelming weight of record evidence and fundamental principles of statutory construction permit no other conclusion. None of these terms are defined by statute. Accordingly, a plain and ordinary meaning of the term "competitive" service is a service offered by the LEC and at least one alternate provider. This definition is supported by the competent, substantial evidence of record. LEC services are not classified as "subject to effective competition" under the statute until an additional set of criteria is met.

The Commission concluded that only two types of LEC services exist under Chapter 364: monopoly and effectively competitive. Despite the plain language and overwhelming record evidence, the Commission has denied the existence of "competitive" services and services having the potential to become effectively competitive.

In the Final Order, the Commission essentially "re-writes" pertinent provisions of Chapter 364 in order to achieve what it perceives to be a preferred result. That result would permit the LECs to cross-subsidize all competitive services with monopoly revenues unless and until a specific service is determined by the Commission to be effectively competitive. That result would impose severe handicaps on potential and existing competitors who do not have a residual pool of guaranteed monopoly revenues available to support their businesses nor to support the pricing of services below incremental cost. That result triggers cross-subsidization

protection only after a service is determined to be effectively competitive at which point cross-subsidization protection may not be of any benefit, use or necessity to competitors due to the fully competitive status of the service. Clearly, these results were not intended by the Legislature when it enacted the 1990 revisions to Chapter 364.

The practical effect of the Commission's decision is that it renders meaningless the statutory protections expressly designed to prohibit cross-subsidization of LEC "competitive" services with monopoly revenues. The Commission's order would permit the LECs to use monopoly revenues to subsidize their competitive services which are offered by alternative suppliers who attempt to compete with the LEC. Rather than promoting competition by ensuring that competitors are not adversely affected by LEC cross-subsidization, the Commission's decision impedes competition and harms ratepayers. The Commission's decision therefore departs from essential requirements of law because it ignores the plain meaning of the statute and conflicts with the legislative intent underlying Chapter 364, which is to foster telecommunications competition in the public interest.

ARGUMENT

I. THE APPLICABLE STANDARD OF REVIEW AND GENERAL PRINCIPLES OF STATUTORY CONSTRUCTION

The applicable standard of review requires this Court to determine whether the Commission's interpretation of Chapter 364, Florida Statutes, (1) departs from essential requirements of law and (2) is supported by competent, substantial evidence. International Telecharge, Inc. v. Wilson, 573 So.2d 816, 819 (Fla. 1991); Aloha Utilities, Inc. v. FPSC, 376 So.2d 850, 851 (Fla. 1979); Deltona Corp. v. Mayo, 342 So.2d 510, 512 (Fla. 1977). The essential requirements of law governing this Court's consideration of the Final Order arise from judicial decisions outlining the general tests to be applied in reviewing an agency's construction of a statute which it is charged to enforce.

Ordinarily, the construction of a statute by an agency charged with its enforcement and interpretation is entitled to great weight. However, the law is also clear that a court must depart from an agency's construction of its statute where the agency's construction is clearly erroneous or in conflict with the intent of the statute. See, e.g., Tri-State Systems, Inc. v. Department of Transportation, 491 So.2d 1192, 1193 (Fla. 1st DCA 1986); Sans Souci v. Division of Land Sales and Condominiums, 421 So.2d 623, 626, (Fla. 1st DCA 1982); Department of Environmental Regulation v. Goldring, 477 So.2d 532, 534 (Fla. 1985). Further, the agency's interpretation must be supported by competent, substantial evidence. Tri-State Systems, supra.

The Commission has incorrectly interpreted the statutory terminology and misapplied the provisions of Chapter 364, Florida Statutes, relating to the prevention of cross-subsidization. Specifically, the Final Order rejects the plain and ordinary meaning of the statutory terms "competitive," "subject to effective competition, " and "effectively competitive" and concludes that the terms have identical meanings. (R. 654). The Final Order determines that there are only two types of LEC services: monopoly and effectively competitive services. (R. 653). The Final Order ensures that only those services deemed "effectively competitive" receive protection against cross-subsidization by revenues. No provision is made for any other types of services. Hence, the Final Order circumvents the legislative (R. 653). intent and statutory prohibitions against cross-subsidization that were established to foster competition in the telecommunications marketplace.

The Commission's erroneous interpretation of the statute fails to effectuate the plain meaning of the statutory language, ignores the overriding legislative intent, overlooks the great weight of record evidence, and disregards well-established principles of statutory construction. Therefore, the Commission's decision that the terms "competitive," "subject to effective competition," and "effectively competitive" are synonymous and that the statute only protects "effectively competitive" services from cross-subsidization must be set aside or modified, or remanded to the Commission for further action under a correct interpretation of the

law. Section 120.68(9), Fla. Stat.

II. THE COMMISSION'S DECISION DEPARTS FROM THE ESSENTIAL REQUIREMENTS OF LAW BY IGNORING THE PLAIN LANGUAGE OF THE STATUTE, FUNDAMENTAL PRINCIPLES OF STATUTORY CONSTRUCTION AND RECORD EVIDENCE WHICH DICTATE THAT THE STATUTORY TERMS "COMPETITIVE," "SUBJECT TO EFFECTIVE COMPETITION," AND "EFFECTIVELY COMPETITIVE" HAVE SEPARATE AND DISTINCT MEANINGS.

A. The term "competitive" must be plainly and broadly construed, as there is no indication that the Legislature intended otherwise.

The term "competitive," which is used in Sections 364.01², 364.036³, 364.338⁴ and 364.3381⁵, Florida Statues, is not defined by statute. Therefore, a plain and ordinary meaning must be given to the term consistent with the legislative intent. That plain meaning, supported by the evidence of record, is that the statutory term "competitive" refers to a broad class of LEC services provided by a LEC and at least one other provider.

There is no indication that the Legislature intended the term "competitive" to be narrowly construed. One of the most fundamental tenets of statutory construction requires that statutory language, unless specifically defined, must be given its plain and ordinary meaning consistent with the legislative intent.

 $^{^{2}\}mathrm{Section}$ 364.01 addresses the powers of the Commission and legislative intent.

³Section 364.036 addresses alternate regulatory methods for local exchange telecommunications companies.

⁴Section 364.338 addresses competitive services provided by local exchange telecommunication companies.

⁵Section 364.3381 prohibits cross-subsidization of competitive services by local exchange telecommunications companies.

Southeastern Fisheries Ass'n., Inc. v. Dept. of Natural Resources, 453 So.2d 1351 (Fla. 1984); Citizens v. Public Service Commission, 425 So.2d 534, 541-542 (Fla. 1982); St. Petersburg Bank & Trust Co. v. Hamm, 414 So.2d 1071, 1078 (Fla. 1982); Tatzel v. State, 356 So.2d 787, 789 (Fla. 1978). The plain meaning of a term can be determined by reference to a dictionary. Gardner v. Johnson, 451 So.2d 477, 478 (Fla. 1984).

The term "competitive" is defined in Webster's dictionary as:

relating to, characterized by, or based on
competition

Webster's Ninth Collegiate Dictionary 268 (1989). "Competition" is defined as:

- 1: the act or process of competing: rivalry;
- 2: a contest between rivals;
- 3: the effort of two or more parties acting independently to secure the business of a third party by offering the most favorable terms.

Id. [Emphasis supplied.] Based upon these definitions, the plain and ordinary meaning given to the word "competitive" is a broad one that relates to any service offered by the LEC and at least one other provider. (T. 32, 115). Had some specific or narrow meaning been intended, the Legislature would have expressly defined "competitive" to ensure that it would be narrowly construed.

B. The competent, substantial evidence of record supports the use of the plain meaning of the term "competitive" in interpreting the statute.

The reasonableness and logic of giving effect to the plain meaning of "competitive" is overwhelmingly recognized by the record evidence. The LECs' witnesses fully acknowledge that there exists

in the marketplace a broad class of LEC services experiencing competition somewhere on the continuum between monopoly and full blown competition. Southern Bell Witness Emerson, an expert economist, testified:

I think we all do recognize that there are varying degrees of competitiveness, and -- at some point . . . Well, I think one could imagine a literal spectrum of possibilities, from one end being monopoly, the other end being as competitive as one could imagine. And, virtually, everything is going to sit somewhere on that spectrum. And I believe that it's this Commission's charge to determine when something is far enough towards the, quote, "competitive end of the spectrum," to warrant relaxed regulation. And that, to me, is what the statute is all about.

(Tr. 307-308). Witness Emerson also testified:

In fact, I think the statute anticipated that competition is already there. There is alternative providers; there is interexchange carriers; there is a variety of competing services out there.

(Tr. 314). Similarly, GTEFL Witness Beauvais, also an expert economist, testified as follows:

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