097

SID J. WHITE

(NOV 30 1993

IN THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clerk

Case No. 82,281

FPSC Docket No. 910757-TP

Appellant,

ASSOCIATION, INC.,

FLORIDA CABLE TELEVISION

v.

J. TERRY DEASON, Chairman, THOMAS M. BEARD, SUSAN F. CLARK, LUIS J. LAUREDO, and JULIA L. JOHNSON, Commissioners, as and constituting the FLORIDA PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION, an agency of the State of Florida,

Appellees.

Filed: 11-29-93

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE SOUTHERN BELL TELEPHONE AND TELEGRAPH COMPANY AS A PARTY OF RECORD IN THE PROCEEDINGS BELOW

HARRIS R. ANTHONY (FBN # 234291) J. PHILLIP CARVER (FBN # 386715) Suite 1910 150 West Flagler Street Miami, Florida 33130

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Appellant argues in its initial brief that the Commission's Order departs from the essential requirements of law because it is contradicted by the record evidence and it ignores the rules of statutory construction. The fundamental problem with Appellant's first point is that it misconstrues totally the inherently legal nature of statutory construction. A statute is not properly interpreted on the basis of testimony or other evidence as to what it should mean, but rather by applying the legal rules of statutory construction to the language of the statute. The Commission made precisely such a legal interpretation. It did not undertake to consider evidence on this point, nor would it have been proper to do so.

Under Florida law, an administrative agency's interpretation of a statute that it is charged to enforce is entitled to great weight and will not be overturned unless it is clearly erroneous. In interpreting such a statute, the agency must apply the normal rules of statutory interpretation. These rules require the agency to give effect to the legislative intent as expressed in the language of the statute and to interpret the statute in a way that will render it reasonable when considered in its totality.

At the conclusion of the proceeding below, the Florida

Public Service Commission entered an order in which it held that
the terms "competitive", "effectively competitive", and "subject
to effective competition", have the same meaning when used in
Sections 364.338 and 364.3381, Florida Statutes. This ruling by

the Commission not only constitutes a permissible interpretation of the statute, but is, indeed, the only interpretation that will allow the statute to make sense when read in its entirety and in context. On the other hand, FCTA's interpretation of the statute (i.e., that these three terms have separate and distinct meanings) would render the statute absurd and, thereby, violate a fundamental tenet of statutory construction. Accordingly, the Commission's ruling on this point of law is correct and should be sustained.

FCTA has argued that the Commission's interpretation is in error because it would fail to give effect to the broader legislative intent of Chapter 364 to foster competition. FCTA, however, offers neither legal nor logical support for this proposition. FCTA also argues that the Order would effectively limit the Commission's ability to prevent anti-competitive behavior relating to any service that has not yet been found to be effectively competitive. This contention, however, ignores the language of the Commission's Order and is simply wrong. The Commission's interpretation of Section 364.3381 is also correct, and FCTA has offered no argument to the contrary.

ARGUMENT

- I. THE STANDARD OF REVIEW AND RULES OF STATUTORY INTERPRETATION
 - A. An agency's interpretation of a statute that it is charged to enforce must be upheld unless it is clearly erroneous.

The standard of review in this case is well settled under Florida law. As this Court stated in <u>PW Ventures</u>, <u>Inc. v.</u>

<u>Nichols</u>, 533 So.2d 281, 283 (Fla. 1988),

...[W]e note the well established principle that the contemporaneous construction of the statute by the agency charged with its enforcement and interpretation is entitled to great weight ... [citation omitted] The Courts will not depart from such a construction unless it is clearly unauthorized or erroneous.

See also, State ex rel. Biscayne Kennel Club v. Board of Business Regulation, 276 So.2d 823, 828 (Fla. 1973) (The "administrative construction of ... [a] ... statute by the agency or body charged with its administration is entitled to great weight and will not be overturned until clearly erroneous").

This standard has been applied by the First District Court of Appeal to mean that "[i]f an agency's interpretation [of its governing statutes] is one of several permissible interpretations, it must be upheld despite the existence of reasonable alternatives." Pershing Industries, Inc. v. Dept. of Banking and Finance, 591 So.2d 991, 993 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991);

Dept. of Professional Regulation v. Durrani, 455 So.2d 515 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984). In Pershing, the appellant advanced a statutory interpretation that the appellee, agency (the Department of Banking) admitted was possible. At the same time, the agency

concluded that a different interpretation was more plausible.

The reviewing Court stated that "because the Department's interpretation of ... [the statute] ... is not unreasonable or outside the range of permissible interpretations, ... it must be upheld. Pershing at 994.3

On the basis of the above-cited authority, it would appear that an administrative agency's interpretation of a statute that it is charged to enforce will be overturned only in relatively unusual circumstances. A rejection of the agency's interpretation is only supportable if that interpretation is so clearly erroneous that it simply cannot be deemed to be within a range of reasonable conclusions as to the meaning of the statute.

B. A statute must be interpreted in a way that will render it reasonable in the context of the statute as a whole.

In order to determine the meaning of a statute, any tribunal, including an administrative agency, must consider all pertinent legal principles of statutory construction. The most simply applied of these principles is that no interpretation is appropriate when the statute is facially clear and totally lacking in ambiguity. In this instance, the tribunal considering

Federal courts have similarly deferred to agency interpretations. An "administrative agency's interpretation of its own regulations must be accorded the greatest deference If the agency interpretation is merely one of several reasonable alternatives, it must stand even though it may not appear as reasonable as some other". Expedient Services, Inc. v. Weaver, 614 F.2d 56, 57 (5th Cir. 1980) (quoting Allen M. Campbell Co. General Contractors, Inc. v. Lloyd Wood Construction Co., 446 F.2d 261, 265 (5th Cir. 1971)).

the statute does not so much interpret it as simply apply it in the manner that is dictated by its clear language. As this Court stated in <u>Streeter v. Sullivan</u>, 509 So.2d 268, 271 (Fla. 1987):

The first rule of statutory interpretation is that '[w]hen the language of the statute is clear and unambiguous and conveys a clear and definite meaning, there is no occasion for resorting to the rules of statutory interpretation and construction; the statute must be given its plain and obvious meaning'. A.R. Douglass, Inc. v. McRainey, 102 Fla. 1141, 1144, 137 So. 157, 159 (Fla. 1931).4

Thus, when a statute's meaning is so obvious that there is essentially no room for interpretation, the tribunal considering the statute has nothing more to do than simply apply its plain language to reach an obvious result.

In a circumstance, however, in which discerning the meaning of a statute requires some degree of interpretation, the rules become more complex. In this instance, there are a number of principles of statutory interpretation that must be applied to reach a proper result. Although there are myriad cases that set forth these principles, the guidelines they prescribe can be summarized in three broad rules: (1) the interpretation must be consistent with the legislative intent, (2) it must be reasonable

⁴ The same rule was expressed, albeit in somewhat different language, in <u>Citizens v. Public Service Commission</u>, 425 So.2d 534, 541-42 (Fla. 1982) as follows:

The rule in Florida is that where the language of the statute is so plain and unambiguous as to fix the legislative intent and leave no room for construction, the Court should not depart from the plain language used by the legislature.

(i.e., absurd results are to be avoided), and (3) the statute should be interpreted as a whole so that all parts of the statute are consistent with one another.

When a statute is susceptible to more than one interpretation, the reviewing tribunal must first seek to give effect to the intent of the legislature in creating the statute. As stated in Lowry v. Parole and Probation Commission, 473 So.2d 1248, 1249 (Fla. 1985), "[w]here reasonable differences arise as to the meaning or application of a statute, the legislative intent must be the polestar of judicial construction". At the same time, this Court has repeatedly held that the legislative intent must be determined whenever possible by looking to the way in which it is reflected in the language of the statute:

In statutory construction, case law clearly requires that legislative intent be determined primarily from the language of the statute. [citations omitted]. The reason for this rule is that the legislature must be assumed to know the meaning of the words and to have expressed its intent by the use of the words found in the statute.

S.R.G. Corp. v. Dept. of Revenue, 365 So.2d 687, 689 (Fla. 1978).

"It is a well-established rule of construction that the intent of the legislature as gleaned from the statute is the law". Dept. of Legal Affairs v. Sanford-Orlando Kennel Club, Inc., 434 So.2d 879, 882 (Fla. 1983) (quoting Small v. Sun Oil Co., 222 So.2d 196, 201 (Fla. 1969)). Accordingly, in determining the legislative intent, "the statutory language is the first consideration". St. Petersburg Bank & Trust Co. v. Hamm, 414 So.2d 1071, 1073 (Fla. 1982).

Consistent with this rule, it is only appropriate to attempt to discover the legislative intent by looking outside a statute when the language of the statute itself is not sufficiently clear to reveal this intent. In this uncommon circumstance, the typical source of guidance is the legislative history of the particular statute. See, e.g., Streeter, supra; Florida State Racing Commission v. McLaughlin, 102 So.2d 574 (Fla. 1958); 5

The second fundamental applicable principle of statutory construction is that the tribunal interpreting the statute is "obligated to avoid constructing [the] particular statute so as to achieve an absurd or unreasonable result". Carawan v. State, 515 So.2d 161, 167 (Fla. 1987). Instead, a statute should be interpreted in a manner that will render it reasonable. This rule is not intended to be an alternative to the rule that the legislative intent should control. Instead, the two rules are entirely consistent and the requirement that a statute be construed so as to be reasonable is, in fact, a corollary to the mandate to give effect to the legislative intent. In other words, it is assumed that an absurd or unreasonable result is contrary to what the legislature intended:

It is, of course, a well settled principle that courts should avoid interpreting statutes in ways which ascribe to the legislature an intent to create an absurd result. [citations omitted] ... Allied

⁵ In <u>Ison v. Zimmerman</u>, 372 So.2d 431, 433 (Fla. 1979), this Court accepted as extrinsic evidence of the legislative intent the history of the legislation together with "contemporaneous commentary on the drafters intent" that was contained in the reporter and "subsequent legislative action".

Fidelity Insurance Co. v. State, 415 So.2d 109, 110-11 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1982) ('[A]n axiom of statutory construction [is] that an interpretation of a statute which leads to an unreasonable or ridiculous conclusion or result obviously not designed by the legislative will not be adopted').

<u>Ferre v. State ex rel. Reno</u>, 478 So.2d 1077, 1082 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1985).

Further, the necessity to construe a statute in a way that will render it reasonable pertains despite any contrary result that might be suggested by the literal language of the statute.

"It is fundamental that a statute should be given a reasonable interpretation. No literal interpretation should be given which leads to an unreasonable or ridiculous conclusion". Johnson v. Presbyterian Homes of Synod of Florida, Inc., 239 So.2d 256, 263 (Fla. 1970).

The third fundamental applicable tenet of statutory construction is that a statute should be interpreted on the basis of the entire statute, not merely by looking to isolated portions of the statute. As this Court stated in Forsythe v. Longboat Key Beach Erosion Control District, 604 So.2d 452, 455 (Fla. 1992), "[i]t is axiomatic that all parts of a statute must be read together in order to achieve a consistent whole". Further, "every statute must be read as a whole with meaning ascribed to every portion and due regard given to the semantic and contextual interrelationship between its parts". Forsythe, at 455 (quoting Fleischman v. Dept. of Professional Regulation, 441 So.2d 1121,

1123 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1983), review denied, 451 So.2d 847 (Fla. 1984)).

The purpose of this rule also is to observe the legislative intent. The "[l]egislative intent should be gathered from consideration of the statute as a whole rather than from any one part thereof". Florida Jai Alai, Inc. v. Lake Howell Water and Reclamation District, 274 So.2d 522, 524 (Fla. 1973); Escambia County v. Trans Pac, 584 So.2d 603, 605 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991) ("We are required to consider a statute as a whole in determining the legislature's intent").

Taking into consideration all of the above-cited authority allows for a cogent statement of the full range of applicable rules of statutory interpretation. If a statute is so clear that interpretation is unnecessary, then the plain language of the statute will simply be applied. On the other end of the spectrum, if a statute is so ambiguous that the legislative intent cannot be discerned from the language of the statute, it may be interpreted by the use of extrinsic evidence such as the history of the legislation. In the middle ground between these two extremes fall what one would presume to be the vast majority of cases, those that require interpretation, yet include language that is sufficiently clear to allow their meaning to be discovered by applying to this language certain established principles of statutory construction. These principles require that the tribunal reach a reasonable interpretation that takes into consideration the statute as a whole and is consistent with

the legislative intent as expressed in the language of the statute.

Applying these principles described to the instant case requires the conclusion that the Commission's interpretation of Section 364.338, Florida Statute, cannot possibly be viewed as constituting clear error. In point of fact, the Commission's construction of the statute is not only within the range of permissible interpretations, it is the only interpretation that is consistent with the above-described rules of statutory construction.

II. THE COMMISSION CORRECTLY RULED THAT THE TERMS
"COMPETITIVE", "EFFECTIVELY COMPETITIVE" AND "SUBJECT TO
EFFECTIVE COMPETITION" HAVE THE SAME MEANING AS USED IN
SECTION 364.338, FLORIDA STATUTES.

The Commission originally determined in Order No. PSC-93-0289-FOF-TL, which was issued February 23, 1993 in Docket Nos. 910590-TL and 920255-TL, that "the legislature did not differentiate the meaning of 'competitive', 'effectively competitive', and 'subject to effective competition' as those terms are used in Sections 364.338 and 364.3381 (App. at 15)⁶ The same result was, of course, reached in the instant case. Before explaining the basis for this result, the Commission first noted and rejected the contention of FCTA that certain rules of statutory construction required that these terms be viewed in this case as having separate, distinct meanings. Specifically, FCTA argued "(1) that every provision in the statute is there for a purpose; and (2) that every word in the statute must be given its plain and ordinary meaning". (App. at 16)

Although the Commission acknowledged that FCTA had identified viable rules of statutory construction, it rejected the contention that these were the only pertinent rules or that they should control. Instead, the Commission relied expressly upon the "well accepted rule of interpretation that a statute is passed as a whole and not in sections; therefore, each part of the statute must be construed in connection with every part to

⁶ Even though FCTA was a party to the consolidated proceedings that resulted in this Order, it elected not to appeal the Commission's ruling.

produce a harmonious whole. In addition, even apparently plain words may not convey the meaning the drafters intended it to impart; it is only within the full context of the statute that a word can convey an idea". (App. at 16) The Commission also relied upon the rule of statutory construction that a "statute should not be read literally where such a reading would be contrary to its purposes". <u>Id</u>.

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